Radiation-induced Bystander Fibroblasts Both Reduce and Amplify Micronuclei Induction through the Reciprocal Bystander Effect and the Secondary Bystander Effect

By

Chang Liu

SUBMITTED TO THE DEPARTMENT OF NUCLEAR SCIENCE AND ENGINEERING IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

BACHELOR OF SCIENCE IN NUCLEAR SCIENCE AND ENGINEERING AT THE MASSACHUSETTS INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY

JUNE 2016

© 2016 Chang Liu. All rights reserved.

The author hereby grants to MIT permission to reproduce and to distribute publicly paper and electronic copies of this thesis document in whole or in part.

Signature of Author:	
	Chang Liu
	Department of Nuclear Science and Engineering
	May 20, 2016
Certified by:	
	Kathryn D. Held
	Associate Professor, Harvard Medical School
	Associate Radiation Biologist, Massachusetts General Hospital
	Thesis Supervisor
Certified by:	
Cordined by:	Areg Danagoulian
	Assistant Professor of Nuclear Science and Engineering
	Thesis Reader
Accepted by:	
	Michael Short
	Assistant Professor of Nuclear Science and Engineering
	Chairman, NSE Committee for Undergraduate Students

Radiation-induced Bystander Fibroblasts Both Reduce and Amplify Micronuclei Induction through the Reciprocal Bystander Effects and the Secondary Bystander Effect

By

Chang Liu

Submitted to the Department of Nuclear Science and Engineering on May 20, 2016 in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Bachelor of Science in Nuclear Science and Engineering at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology

Abstract

Aside from directly causing DNA damage, the traversal of radiation through cells also induces the bystander effect, which is the biological response of unirradiated cells that are neighboring or sharing medium with the irradiated cells. Although the mechanisms through which irradiated cells send signals to the bystander cells are not well understood, the bystander effect could potentially have clinical relevance or play a significant role in low dose radiation environments. The research in this thesis focuses on the ability of the bystander cells to influence the behavior of cells that share medium with them, which can be separated into three categories: unirradiated cells, irradiated cells, and the original irradiated cells that caused the bystander effect. These can be considered the "secondary bystanders." Human AG01522 fibroblasts were irradiated with 250 kVp X-rays and co-cultured with unirradiated fibroblasts to generate bystander cells, which were then cocultured with one of the three types of secondary bystander cells. The micronucleus assay was used to analyze the amount of chromosome aberrations present. In the unirradiated secondary bystander population, an increase in percentage of binucleated cells with micronuclei from the background level to approximately the level of the primary bystander cells was observed, indicating that bystander cells can send damaging signals. The data also showed that there was a lower frequency of micronuclei formation in the irradiated population with bystander inserts in comparison to irradiated populations without bystanders. However, there were no conclusive data on the effect of the bystander cells on other irradiated cells. Overall, the results suggest that bystander fibroblasts are capable of sending both detrimental and beneficial signals and can induce a range of behaviors in other cells.

Thesis Supervisor: Kathryn D. Held, Ph.D. Title: Associate Professor, Harvard Medical School Associate Radiation Biologist, Massachusetts General Hospital

Thesis Reader: Areg Danagoulian, Ph.D. Title: Assistant Professor of Nuclear Science and Engineering

Acknowledgements

The author would like to acknowledge Professor Kathryn Held, Dr. Takuya Kaminuma, Robert Hinshaw, and Professor Areg Danagoulian for all of their support throughout the experimental and writing processes. Professor Held provided constant guidance through every step of this thesis project and never failed to answer even the most basic and trivial questions. The laboratory techniques and experiences were taught and shared by Dr. Kaminuma, who was completing his time as a researcher at MGH and continued to help when needed even after returning to Japan. Although not directly involved in this project, Rob assisted with the statistical analysis of the data and always gave his advice readily without judgment. Finally, thanks to Professor Danagoulian for agreeing to act as the thesis reader, accepting this thesis, and for his general guidance in the field of nuclear science and engineering throughout the past two years.

Table of Contents

Abstract			
Ac	knowledgements	3	
1.	Introduction and Background	5	
	1.1. Radiation-induced Bystander Effect	6	
	1.1.1. Previous Research on the Bystander Effect	7	
	1.2. Research Goals	8	
2.	Methods and Materials	9	
	2.1. Endpoint and Assay	9	
	2.2. Equipment		
	2.2.1. Irradiation Source		
	2.2.2. Cell Line and Culture		
	2.3. Procedure		
	2.3.1. Secondary bystander effect on unirradiated cells		
	2.3.2. Effect of bystander cells on other irradiated cells		
	2.3.3. Effect of bystander cells on the initially irradiated cells		
	2.4. Statistics		
3.	Results	16	
	3.1. Secondary bystander effect on unirradiated cells		
	3.2. Effect of bystander cells on other irradiated cells		
	3.3. Effect of bystander cells on the initially irradiated cells		
4.	Discussion		
	4.1. Secondary bystander effect on unirradiated cells		
	4.2. Effect of bystander cells on other irradiated cells		
	4.3. Effect of bystander cells on the initially irradiated cells		
5.	Further Research	22	
6.	Conclusion	23	
7.	References	25	
8.	List of Figures	28	

1. Introduction and Background

Bridging the subjects of nuclear physics and biology, radiobiology is the study of the effect of radiation on organisms. The pioneers in the field of nuclear science, such as Becquerel and the Curies, were also the first to note the biological consequences of working with radioactive materials that emit ionizing radiation (1). Radiation interacts with matter by transferring energy to subatomic particles, atoms, and molecules via different mechanisms depending on the type of radiation, and the negative side effects experienced by those nuclear physicists were the result of ionizing radiation traversing through their cells, depositing energy along its path, and disrupting normal cell functions. The energy from the ionizing radiation can promote chemical reactions that can be unfavorable, creating reactive species that could be harmful to cells. The radiation can also directly interact with the genetic material and alter the DNA by producing strand breaks, base deletions, and other types of changes. The cells with DNA damage are likely to undergo mitotic death, but occasionally, the damage becomes a mutation that leads to cancer. This phenomenon has been studied extensively throughout the past century, and scientists and doctors can now quite accurately quantify dose to humans in order to recommend dose limits for radiation workers and also to use radiation as a form of therapy to kill tumor cells (1, 2).

However, it had been reported for several decades that even cells not directly traversed by radiation were impacted by the radiation's presence if the cells were in proximity to irradiated cells (2). This observation was coined as the radiation-induced bystander effect, but was not studied extensively until the early 1990s (2, 3). Since then, much effort has been put into characterizing the bystander effect, looking at its dependence on environmental factors and investigating the mechanisms behind it. Despite the progress, the consequences of the bystander effect still cannot be taken into account for the purposes of quantifying biological effects of radiation dose. There are still many aspects of the bystander responses that have not been explained, and it is also possible

that the bystander cells themselves are capable of releasing signals to other cells, creating a "secondary bystander effect." This project examines the ability of the bystander cells to communicate to cells with which they share medium. There are three parts of the project, each corresponding to a different category of cells that is used as the "secondary bystanders," which are unirradiated cells, newly irradiated cells, and the original irradiated cells that initiated the primary bystander effect. The result of this research will help gauge whether the affected area could be larger than just irradiated cells and whether the bystander process could be beneficial to the initially irradiated cells.

1.1. Radiation-induced Bystander Effect

As mentioned previously, the radiation-induced bystander effect is defined as the biological response of cells near or sharing medium with irradiated cells. Although it may seem simple from its definition, the exact "response" of the cells can be manifest in many types of cellular changes and is dependent on many factors, such as the type and energy of radiation, the dose absorbed, and the time after irradiation when the cells are co-cultured. Bystander cells may exhibit a range of behaviors that are not present in an average, normally functioning cell, including gene mutation (4, 5), altered gene expression (6, 7), early apoptotic cell killing (8), and DNA damage (9, 10). The bystander response is also not exclusive to only certain kinds of radiation or linear energy transfer (LET) values (11–14). One characteristic of the bystander effect that has been frequently observed is that it increases at lower doses and saturates at higher doses (15, 16).

Recently, research within the topic of the bystander effect has shifted toward studying the responses from a space radiation environment (15). Accurately quantifying biological effects of radiation dose for astronauts in space is crucial as the space radiation environment is very different from that on earth. Radiation in space, which is a combination of galactic cosmic rays (GCR) and

solar particle events (SPE), has a low particle fluence, suggesting that the direct damage in the irradiated cells will be equally important as the non-targeted effects, one of which is the bystander effect (15, 17–19). Several articles published evidence that bystander responses were detected even when the target cells were irradiated with an extremely low dose (3, 5, 12, 20), but there is a lack of literature on the potential for the bystander cells to amplify the damage by extending the original signal.

1.1.1. Previous Research on the Bystander Effect

Much of the current research focuses on examining how the bystander signal is transmitted between cells (15). While experimental evidence has been published supporting a number of models of the mechanism, the chemical agents that are released by the irradiated cell and taken up by the bystanders are still under investigation (6, 7, 21–28). Two of the recognized models of how the process occurs suggest that it can happen through the release of signals into the medium (12, 21, 23) or across the gap junctions that connect the immediately adjacent cells (10, 22, 29). This project utilizes the former model and induces the bystander effect by co-culturing the irradiated and unirradiated populations such that they share medium but are not touching. As the bystander effect occurring through medium-mediated diffusion has been demonstrated before, medium-sharing is a system often used in studies within the bystander field. It has been speculated that the agents exchanged between the two populations during medium sharing can be a number of compounds, including reactive oxygen species (ROS, 21–23), reactive nitrogen species (RNS, 24, 25, 30, 31), calcium (26, 32), and cytokines (6, 27, 33), and that the process could be facilitated by proteins and enzymes as well (7, 28, 34). Aside from medium-sharing and medium transferring, other popular methods include the use of microbeam facilities, which allow the scientists to target single cells or even portions within a cell for irradiation (16, 20, 35, 36).

Since many aspects of a bystander experiment can be changed, research regarding factors that may affect the bystander response has yielded a large range of results (15, 18). Most studies are still focused on the interactions between the irradiated and the bystander cells, specifically the signaling process from the irradiated to the bystander. However, some researchers have proposed the possibility that the bystander cells could initiate interactions with other cells and send signals of their own. It has been suggested that bystander cells could, in a sense, forward a signal that was received from the original irradiated cell, propagating the bystander response and increasing the affected area (37). Furthermore, bystander cells could also have the capability to signal to irradiated cells, which could potentially be a "rescuing" mechanism. A specific case is the "reciprocal" effect of the bystander cells, where signals are sent back to the original irradiated cell (38–40). This phenomenon has been observed in the data of several published articles. However, because different radiation types, cell lines, and endpoints to measure cell response had been used, no general conclusions could be made about the existence of such behavior for circumstances outside of those as described in the experiments.

1.2. Research Goals

This project seeks to verify whether the effects as mentioned above can be observed in human fibroblasts (AG01522), with the target cells being irradiated with X-rays. Specifically, the main goal is to assess whether it is possible for the radiation-induced bystander fibroblasts to influence the level of micronuclei formation in the cells that share medium with them. These bystander cells are co-cultured with unirradiated cells, newly irradiated cells, or the initial irradiated cells. DNA damage in those three sets of cells is quantified by recording the percentage of cells with micronuclei. This data, as compared to the controls, determine the magnitude of these "secondary bystander effects" and whether they are beneficial or detrimental.

2. Methods and Materials

In the following subsections, the materials have been purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO) unless otherwise specified.

2.1. Endpoint and Assay

For this project, the cytokinesis-block micronucleus assay was used as an endpoint in order to measure DNA damage quantitatively. Micronuclei (MN) result from chromosomal aberrations, in this case caused by ionizing radiation. When the radiation is incident upon DNA, it can cause double strand breaks and therefore fragmentation of chromosomes. If mis-repaired or left unrepaired, the fragments are not included in the daughter cells upon mitotic division and are left to form micronuclei found in the cytoplasm after the daughter cells have formed. Therefore, cells with micronuclei can only be scored in binucleated (BN) cells to ensure that only cells that have experienced nuclear division are counted (41). Binucleated cells are created due to the addition of cytochalasin-B, an inhibiting compound that affects the formation of microfilaments, thereby preventing cytokinesis (42). This allows the daughter nuclei and micronuclei to remain in close proximity with one another. Figure 1 shown below is a sample image showing binucleated cells with and without micronuclei taken from one of the slides used in this experiment



Figure 1: A microscope image of AG01522 after the cytokinesis-block micronucleus assay was performed, taken from a sample used in this experiment. The cells were stained with a fluorescent dye (DAPI), and the percentage of binucleated cells with micronuclei was counted. The arrows point to binucleated cells with micronuclei.

Human fibroblasts (AG01522) were cultured until confluent and seeded on coverslips in multiwell plates or in inserts for bystander cells. The cells were allowed to attach and grow in 3 mL of medium for twenty-four hours before the medium was aspirated for irradiation. After irradiation, 4 mL of medium was reintroduced into the wells along with inserts containing the unirradiated cells. The irradiated and unirradiated cells share medium and are co-cultured for two hours before the unirradiated bystander cells are then moved to co-culture with other cells, which are either also unirradiated or newly irradiated. At the same time, 6 μ L of the cytochalasin-B (cyto-B) solution is added into the wells of the irradiated cells. Similarly, the same amount was added to the wells of the "secondary bystanders" two hours after the bystanders were inserted. The cyto-B solution is solid cytochalasin-B compound diluted in liquid dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) to 1 μ g/ μ L, and 6 μ L were added to the wells to achieve a concentration of 1.5 μ g/mL. Starting from the moment when co-culturing began, the cells were incubated for seventy-two hours before fixing. The coverslips with

cells attached were rinsed with phosphate-buffered saline solution (PBS) twice before being fixed in methanol: acetic acid (3:1, v/v). Then the coverslips were allowed to dry overnight in the fixing solution before being rehydrated with PBS and stained and mounted onto glass microscope slides (Fisher Scientific, Pittsburgh, PA) with Vectashield Mounting Medium with DAPI (1.5 μ g/mL, Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA). DAPI is the compound 4', 6-diamidimo-2-phenylindole, which binds to nuclear material and fluoresces blue (43). Using a fluorescence microscope, 500 binucleated cells were scored from each slide and the percentage of those cells with micronuclei under each treatment was recorded.

2.2. Equipment

2.2.1. Irradiation Source

After media were aspirated from the wells, the cells were irradiated with the 250 kVp X-ray machine (Siemens Stabilipan 2) operated at 13mA at the Cellular and Molecular Radiation Oncology Laboratory at the Massachusetts General Hospital in the Charlestown Navy Yard. Irradiations were performed at room temperature and with a dose rate of 153.8 cGy per minute. At this rate, it took 0.35 minutes and 1.33 minutes to deliver a dose of 0.5 Gy and 2 Gy respectively to a six well plate.

2.2.2. Cell Line and Culture

The AG01522 human diploid skin fibroblast cells used in this experiment were obtained from the Genetic Cell Repository at the Coriell Institute for Medical Research in Camden, NJ. The cells were cultured with medium in cell culture flasks (Falcon, Durham, NC) until confluent in an incubator (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA) that maintained a humidified environment at 37° C with 95% air and 5% CO₂. No cells beyond passage number eight were used. Because cells' radiation sensitivity is dependent upon the cell cycle, the cells were seeded only after confluency was reached in order to align their locations in the cell cycle.

The medium is comprised of alpha-modified Minimum Essential Medium Eagle with penicillin-streptomycin, L-glutamine (L-glut), non-essential amino acids, HEPES (4-(2hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid), and 20% fetal bovine serum (FBS, HyClone, Logan, UT). One microscope cover glass (coverslip, Fisher Scientific) was placed in each well and insert prior to seeding. The cells were harvested with trypsin, counted, and then plated with 3mL of medium at 8x10⁴ cells per well, 4x10⁴ cells per insert.

Each tissue-culture treated polystyrene companion plate (Falcon) had six wells, and a cell culture insert (Falcon) could be added to each well such that the cells in the wells and inserts were sharing medium but in direct contact. The insert dishes had polyethylene terephthalate (PET) membranes with 1µm pores stretched across the bottom, allowing solutes within the shared medium between the insert and the well to pass freely but preventing the two populations of cells from mixing.

2.3. Procedures

2.3.1. Secondary bystander effect on unirradiated cells

To examine the effect of the bystander cells on unirradiated cells, the percentage of binucleated cells with micronuclei in unirradiated cells co-cultured with radiation-induced bystanders were compared to that of the primary bystander cells. Cells cultured in wells were irradiated at either 0.5 Gy or at 2 Gy; an unirradiated sample was used as control. Following the irradiation, medium was immediately reintroduced into each well, and the inserts were added. After the two populations were co-cultured for two hours, the media in the inserts were aspirated, and the inserts were moved to wells with unirradiated cells. The MN assay was performed on the irradiated cells, the initial bystander cells, and the secondary bystander unirradiated cells.



Figure 2: Scheme of insert transferring and co-culture procedure used in experiment to investigate the effect of bystander cells on unirradiated cells.

2.3.2. Effect of bystander cells on other irradiated cells

An insert transfer and co-culture system similar to the one in the previous experiment was used to determine the effect of bystander cells on other irradiated cells. In order to compare the DNA damage in irradiated, secondary bystander cells to the amount of damage in irradiated cells with no bystanders, primary bystander cells were first co-cultured with the initially irradiated cells and then transferred to share medium with freshly irradiated cells. The initial irradiated population was irradiated at 0.5 Gy and 2 Gy, with a 0 Gy sample included as control, while the secondary irradiated population was irradiated only at 0.5 Gy. Therefore, the inserts were bystanders of unirradiated cells, cells irradiated at 0.5 Gy, and cells irradiated at 2 Gy, but they were all co-cultured for a second time with newly irradiated cells at 0.5 Gy. The MN assay was performed on the secondary irradiated cells with bystander inserts and irradiated cells with no inserts.



Figure 3: Scheme of insert transferring and co-culture procedure used in experiment to investigate the effect of bystander cells on other irradiated cells.

2.3.3. Effect of bystander cells on the initially irradiated cells

In this portion of the experiment, irradiated cells with no bystander cells were compared to irradiated cells with bystander inserts added. For both categories, the cells were irradiated at 0.5 Gy and 2 Gy, and a sample at 0 Gy was used for control. The irradiated cells with bystanders were co-cultured for just two hours before the bystanders were removed. The MN assay was performed on both the irradiated cells co-cultured with the bystanders and the irradiated cells with no inserts added.



Figure 4: Scheme of co-culture procedure used in experiment to investigate the effect of bystander cells on the initially irradiated cells.

2.4. Statistical Analysis

The results are presented as the mean \pm standard error based on the data obtained from at least three separate experiments. A t-test was performed using MATLAB to compare the data set of interest for each of the three effects being investigated. p \leq 0.05 was considered significant.

3. Results

The goal of this project is to examine the effect of radiation-induced bystander cells on cells that share medium with them. These cells could be considered "secondary bystander" cells and can be grouped into three distinct categories: unirradiated, irradiated, and the initially irradiated cells that sent the primary bystander signals. Each group can react differently to the presence of bystander cells, and understanding their behaviors is necessary for accurately quantifying the biological effect of ionizing radiation. To simulate the bystander process, a transwell insert co-culture system was used such that two populations with different dose treatments share medium without being in direct contact. The micronuclei assay was performed to determine the amount of DNA damage in each sample, and the data are presented as percent of binucleated cells with micronuclei.

3.1. Secondary bystander effect on unirradiated cells

Figure 5 shows the amount of micronuclei induction present in the unirradiated secondary bystander cells in comparison to the primary bystander cells and the initially irradiated cells. While there is not a significant difference between the samples with 0.5 Gy and 2 Gy induced primary bystander population (p>0.05), they are distinct from the samples with 0 Gy induced primary bystanders. It appears that the 0.5 Gy and 2 Gy induced primary bystanders

caused a 1.6-fold increase in the amount of MN formation in the unirradiated AG01522 cells (p<0.01), such that they exhibit virtually the same magnitude of damage as the primary bystanders.



Figure 5: Micronuclei induction in the irradiated population, the primary radiation-induced bystander population, and the unirradiated secondary bystander population. The doses indicated in the legend were delivered to the original irradiated cells. Data represent the means of three separate experiments, and errors bars represent the standard error. An asterisk indicates p<0.05 while two indicates p<0.01, compared to 0 Gy samples in the same category.

3.2. Effect of bystander cells on other irradiated cells

Figure 6 compares the population of secondary bystander irradiated at 0.5 Gy co-cultured with 0 Gy, 0.5 Gy, and 2 Gy induced bystanders with the 0.5 Gy irradiated sample with no bystanders inserted. There seems to be an increasing trend in the frequency of MN formation with increasing doses to the original irradiated cells, and samples with bystander cells inserted saw 5-8% more MN induction when compared to the control sample irradiated at 0.5 Gy with no insert.

However, none of the differences between treatments were statistically significant, with p-values ranging from 0.2 to 0.9.



Figure 6: Frequency of micronuclei formation in populations irradiated with 0.5 Gy and then either not co-cultured or co-cultured with bystander cells induced by varying levels of radiation dose. Data represent the means of three separate experiments, and errors bars represent the standard error. An asterisk indicates p<0.05 while two indicates p<0.01.

3.3. Effect of bystander cells on the initially irradiated cells

Figure 7 shows MN formation in the irradiated cells with and without unirradiated bystander cells. Both groups show similar increasing trends as the dose is increased, but the overall levels in the populations co-cultured with bystander cells appear lower. At 0.5 Gy, the means of MN frequency of the cells with no bystanders inserted is about 4% more than that of the cells co-cultured with bystanders. The largest difference is in the samples irradiated with a dose of 2 Gy, where the means differ by approximately 12%. In fact, the difference between the two groups is

statistically significant at both 0.5 Gy and 2 Gy. This supports the notion that bystander cells can have a positive, "rescue" effect on the initially irradiated cells, which has been hypothesized in previous research (38–40).



Figure 7: Frequency of micronuclei formation in populations that are unirradiated, irradiated at 0.5 Gy, and irradiated at 2 Gy with and without bystanders. Data represent the means of three separate experiments, and errors bars represent the standard error. An asterisk indicates p<0.05 while two indicates p<0.01.

4. Discussion

Much research has been done on the bystander effect in an attempt to evaluate the role it plays as a part of the biological effects caused by ionizing radiation. Its discovery highlighted a group of cellular responses that are not directly caused by the radiation, often called the "nontargeted effects." The bystander effect is now understood to be a consequence of irradiated cells sending chemical signals to cells that are nearby, but there is a lack of studies on the bystanders' abilities to also communicate with other cells. This project investigates whether such abilities exist and the subsequent behaviors induced in the "secondary bystander" cells.

4.1. Secondary bystander effects on unirradiated cells

One of the abilities examined was the potential for bystander cells to propagate the signals sent by the original irradiated cell and generate more DNA damage in other unirradiated cells. The results (Figure 5) indicate that there is indeed more chromosome aberrations as shown through the increased frequency of binucleated cells with micronuclei in unirradiated cells co-cultured with bystander cells as compared to the background level. Moreover, the level of micronuclei induction seen in the secondary bystanders is roughly equal to the level seen in the primary bystanders. It is unclear whether the severity of the effect is dependent upon the dose of the radiation that induced the primary bystander effect. The existence of a "secondary bystander" effect suggests that the overall non-targeted responses caused by the chemical signals released by cells traversed by radiation are not well quantified. It could be possible that the secondary bystanders could also send signals that result in more DNA damage, creating a chain of events. The affected area could also be larger than previously expected.

4.2. Effect of bystander cells on other irradiated cells

This study also investigated whether bystander cells could influence other irradiated cells in the shared medium. Data suggest that for AG01522 fibroblasts, there is no observed significant difference between the amount of micronuclei seen in populations irradiated with 0.5 Gy regardless of whether the cells were co-cultured with other cells (Figure 6). There were also no significant

changes in micronuclei count between the bystander cells induced with different doses of radiation. Although this set of data indicates that there were likely no effects of the bystander cells on the irradiated cells in this experimental set up, it does not conclude that such an effect will not exist at all. Only one dose for the irradiated, secondary bystander cells was used in this particular experiment, and the cells were co-cultured with the bystander cells immediately after irradiation. This most likely caused the data for the samples with 0 Gy and 0.5 Gy induced bystanders to be quite similar despite the significant difference in amount of DNA damage generally observed between the bystanders at those dose levels. In previous studies, it was shown that bystander responses could be detected even if the cells were not co-cultured for several hours after the initial irradiation (14). Therefore, a plausible explanation for the unexpectedly similar data is that the unirradiated bystanders received signals from the 0.5 Gy irradiated "secondary bystanders" and became virtually the same as the 0.5 Gy induced bystanders. Since the experimental procedures relied on the method of medium sharing, there could have been an exchange of signals between the two populations. In order to examine the effect with chemicals released only from the bystanders, a medium transferring technique could be considered.

4.3. Effect of bystander cells on the initially irradiated cells

In addition to the two mentioned above, the third effect this project aimed to observe was the bystander cells' potential ability to cause a positive, "rescue" effect in the original irradiated cells. This phenomenon had been detected in previous experiments done with varying kinds of cell lines, radiation types, and endpoints (38-40). The data from this project (Figure 7) indicate that this "reciprocal" effect indeed exists for AG01522 fibroblasts when measuring DNA damage using the micronucleus assay. Earlier in section 4.1, it was noted that bystander cells can create more bystander cells by propagating a damaging signal. Since bystander cells are capable to cause both

detrimental and beneficial responses, a possible explanation is that the overall bystander effect exists to limit excessive damage. Severe damage as experienced by the initially irradiated cell can be slightly mitigated by the bystanders, but as a result, the bystander cells and other nearby cells will sustain some low level damage. Whether the overall biological effect is positive or negative is unclear.

5. Further Research

The results from the three experiments in this project show that there is still much to be learned about the bystander effect. Since bystander responses can dependent on many variables such as cell line, type of radiation, and endpoint, similar experiments can be done varying those factors to determine whether bystander cells can cause other effects under all conditions.

Regarding the secondary bystander effect, studies should be performed to measure the capability of the bystander cells to propagate the signal by co-culturing the secondary bystander cells with unirradiated cells to create tertiary bystander cells and so on. The mechanism used in this project was co-culturing and medium-sharing, but an experiment to observe the secondary bystander effect using gap junctions as the method of communication between cells can also be done. Although it can be concluded that a secondary bystander effect could exist from the data from this project, the results create more questions than answers. The mechanisms and agents behind the bystander effect remain unclear, and it is possible that the secondary bystander effect has different characteristics and is a consequence of a different set of mechanisms and chemical agents.

The data from this project appeared inconclusive when examining the ability of bystander cells to affect other irradiated cells. It is unknown as to whether this is an outcome of poor experimental design or a true lack of the phenomenon. Further studies on the subject should allow the transfer of solutes in the medium to occur in only one direction, from the bystander cells to the irradiated cells, in order to maintain the integrity of the unirradiated bystander cells. This can be

done through media transferring. Various doses can be given to the recipient irradiated cells, which can then receive media from unirradiated bystander cells induced by irradiated cells of varying dose as well. Another factor that can influence the results of similar experiments is time. Given that irradiated cells no longer send bystander signals around 6 hours after irradiation (14), perhaps experiments using the medium-transfer technique can begin the co-culturing process after the 6 hours to ensure that the recipient irradiated cells are not altering the bystander cells.

Researchers should continue to determine whether the reciprocal effect could be observed under all conditions and with various endpoints. Since it is a beneficial process, its mechanisms and the signals used are likely to be different from what is known about how the bystander process occurs. If discovered, the mechanisms could provide valuable insight into how cells reduce radiation damage.

6. Conclusion

The three effects investigated in this project all contribute to the overall understanding of the bystander effect and how it can initiate other responses and behaviors. Information from studies done on this subject allow scientists to better assess the biological effects of ionizing radiation and its non-targeted responses, which are relevant to a number of fields, including protection for radiation workers and radiation therapy and oncology. Despite having inconclusive data regarding the ability of bystander cells to communicate to other irradiated cells, the results from this experiment does show that bystander fibroblasts have the ability to be both detrimental and beneficial when induced by cells irradiated with X-rays. They have the capability to amplify the DNA damaging signal from irradiated cells and increase the level of micronuclei induction in unirradiated cells when sharing a common medium. They also can reduce the frequency of micronuclei formation in the originally irradiated cells. There are still many unknowns regarding the

three effects, and more research must be done before these observations can be used clinically or in the radiation protection industry.

7. References

- Hall EJ, Giaccia AJ. Radiobiology for the Radiologist. 7th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2012.
- 2. Hall EJ. The bystander effect. Health Phys 2003; 85(1):31–5.
- 3. Nagasawa H, Little JB. Induction of sister chromatid exchanges by extremely low doses of alpha-particles. Cancer Res 1992 Nov 15; 52(22):6394–6.
- 4. Nagasawa H, Little JB. Unexpected sensitivity to the induction of mutations by very low doses of alpha-particle radiation: evidence for a bystander effect. Radiat Res 1999; 152(5):552–7.
- Zhou H, Randers-Pehrson G, Waldren CA, Vannais D, Hall EJ, Hei TK. Induction of a bystander mutagenic effect of alpha particles in mammalian cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, National Acad Sciences 2000; 97(5):2099–104.
- 6. Iyer R, Lehnert BE, Svensson R. Factors underlying the cell growth-related bystander responses to alpha particles. Cancer Res 2000; 60(5):1290–8.
- 7. Azzam EI, De Toledo SM, Spitz DR, Little JB. Oxidative metabolism modulates signal transduction and micronucleus formation in bystander cells from alpha-particle-irradiated normal human fibroblast cultures. Cancer Res 2002; 62(19):5436–42.
- 8. Lyng FM, Seymour CB, Mothersill C. Initiation of apoptosis in cells exposed to medium from the progeny of irradiated cells: a possible mechanism for bystander-induced genomic instability? Radiat Res 2002; 157(4):365–70.
- Little JB, Nagasawa H, Li GC, Chen DJ. Involvement of the nonhomologous end joining DNA repair pathway in the bystander effect for chromosomal aberrations. Radiat Res 2003; 159(2):262–7.
- Azzam EI, de Toledo SM, Little JB. Direct evidence for the participation of gap junctionmediated intercellular communication in the transmission of damage signals from alpha particle irradiated to nonirradiated cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2001; 98(2):473–8.
- 11. Mothersill C, Seymour CB. Cell-cell contact during gamma irradiation is not required to induce a bystander effect in normal human keratinocytes: evidence for release during irradiation of a signal controlling survival into the medium. Radiat Res 1998; 149(3):256–62.
- Mothersill C, Seymour C. Medium from irradiated human epithelial cells but not human fibroblasts reduces the clonogenic survival of unirradiated cells. Int J Radiat Biol 1997; 71(4):421–7.
- Belyakov O V, Malcolmson AM, Folkard M, Prise KM, Michael BD. Direct evidence for a bystander effect of ionizing radiation in primary human fibroblasts. Br J Cancer 2001; 84(5):674–9.

- 14. Yang H, Anzenberg V, Held KD. The time dependence of bystander responses induced by iron-ion radiation in normal human skin fibroblasts. Radiat Res 2007; 168(3):292–8.
- Held KD. Effects of low fluences of radiations found in space on cellular systems. Int J Radiat Biol 2009; 85(5):379–90.
- Schettino G, Folkard M, Michael BD, Prise KM. Low-dose binary behavior of bystander cell killing after microbeam irradiation of a single cell with focused c(k) x rays. Radiat Res 2005; 163(3):332–6.
- 17. Morgan WF. Non-targeted and delayed effects of exposure to ionizing radiation: I. Radiationinduced genomic instability and bystander effects in vitro. Radiat Res 2003; 159(5):567–80.
- 18. Prise KM, Schettino G, Folkard M, Held KD. New insights on cell death from radiation exposure. Lancet Oncol 2005; 6(7):520–8.
- Brenner DJ, Elliston CD. The potential impact of bystander effects on radiation risks in a Mars mission. Radiat Res 2001; 156(5 Pt 2):612–7.
- Prise KM, Schettino G. Microbeams in radiation biology: review and critical comparison. Radiat Prot Dosimetry 2011; 143(2-4):335–9.
- 21. Narayanan PK, Goodwin EH, Lehnert BE. Alpha particles initiate biological production of superoxide anions and hydrogen peroxide in human cells. Cancer Res 1997; 57(18):3963–71.
- 22. Bishayee A, Hill HZ, Stein D, Rao D V, Howell RW. Free radical-initiated and gap junctionmediated bystander effect due to nonuniform distribution of incorporated radioactivity in a three-dimensional tissue culture model. Radiat Res 2001; 155(2):335–44.
- Yang H, Asaad N, Held KD. Medium-mediated intercellular communication is involved in bystander responses of X-ray-irradiated normal human fibroblasts. Oncogene 2005; 24(12):2096–103.
- Shao C, Furusawa Y, Aoki M, Matsumoto H, Ando K. Nitric oxide-mediated bystander effect induced by heavy-ions in human salivary gland tumour cells. Int J Radiat Biol 2002; 78(9):837– 44.
- 25. Shao C, Stewart V, Folkard M, Michael BD, Prise KM. Nitric oxide-mediated signaling in the bystander response of individually targeted glioma cells. Cancer Res 2003; 63(23):8437–42.
- 26. Shao C, Lyng FM, Folkard M, Prise KM. Calcium fluxes modulate the radiation-induced bystander responses in targeted glioma and fibroblast cells. Radiat Res 2006; 166(3):479–87.
- 27. Narayanan PK, LaRue KE, Goodwin EH, Lehnert BE. Alpha particles induce the production of interleukin-8 by human cells. Radiat Res 1999; 152(1):57–63.
- Zhou H, Ivanov VN, Lien Y-C, Davidson M, Hei TK. Mitochondrial function and nuclear factor-kappaB-mediated signaling in radiation-induced bystander effects. Cancer Res 2008; 68(7):2233–40.

- 29. Azzam EI, de Toledo SM, Gooding T, Little JB. Intercellular communication is involved in the bystander regulation of gene expression in human cells exposed to very low fluences of alpha particles. Radiat Res 1998; 150(5):497–504.
- Matsumoto H, Hayashi S, Hatashita M, Shioura H, Ohtsubo T, Kitai R, et al. Induction of radioresistance to accelerated carbon-ion beams in recipient cells by nitric oxide excreted from irradiated donor cells of human glioblastoma. Int J Radiat Biol 2000; 76(12):1649–57.
- 31. Matsumoto H, Hayashi S, Hatashita M, Ohnishi K, Shioura H, Ohtsubo T, et al. Induction of radioresistance by a nitric oxide-mediated bystander effect. Radiat Res 2001; 155(3):387–96.
- 32. Lyng FM, Maguire P, McClean B, Seymour C, Mothersill C. The involvement of calcium and MAP kinase signaling pathways in the production of radiation-induced bystander effects. Radiat Res 2006; 165(4):400–9.
- 33. Shao C, Folkard M, Prise KM. Role of TGF-beta1 and nitric oxide in the bystander response of irradiated glioma cells. Oncogene 2008; 27(4):434–40.
- Zhou H, Ivanov VN, Gillespie J, Geard CR, Amundson SA, Brenner DJ, et al. Mechanism of radiation-induced bystander effect: role of the cyclooxygenase-2 signaling pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2005; 102(41):14641–6.
- 35. Tomita M, Matsumoto H, Funayama T, Yokota Y, Otsuka K, Maeda M, et al. Nitric oxidemediated bystander signal transduction induced by heavy-ion microbeam irradiation. Life Sci Sp Res 2015; 6:36–43.
- Drexler GA, Ruiz-Gómez MJ. Microirradiation techniques in radiobiological research. J Biosci 2015; 40(3):629–43.
- Jaiswal H, Lindqvist A. Bystander communication and cell cycle decisions after DNA damage. Front Genet 2015; 6:63.
- Chen S, Zhao Y, Han W, Chiu SK, Zhu L, Wu L, et al. Rescue effects in radiobiology: unirradiated bystander cells assist irradiated cells through intercellular signal feedback. Mutat Res 2011; 706(1-2):59–64.
- 39. Nakazawa Y, Saenko V, Rogounovitch T, Suzuki K, Mitsutake N, Matsuse M, et al. Reciprocal paracrine interactions between normal human epithelial and mesenchymal cells protect cellular DNA from radiation-induced damage. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2008; 71(2):567–77.
- 40. He M, Dong C, Xie Y, Li J, Yuan D, Bai Y, et al. Reciprocal bystander effect between αirradiated macrophage and hepatocyte is mediated by cAMP through a membrane signaling pathway. Mutat Res - Fundam Mol Mech Mutagen 2014; 763-764:1–9.
- 41. Fenech M. Cytokinesis-block micronucleus assay evolves into a "cytome" assay of chromosomal instability, mitotic dysfunction and cell death. Mutat Res 2006; 600(1-2):58–66.
- 42. Fenech M. The in vitro micronucleus technique. Mutat Res 2000; 455(1-2):81–95.
- Chazotte B. Labeling Nuclear DNA Using DAPI. Cold Spring Harb Protoc 2011; 2011(1):pdb.prot5556 – pdb.prot5556.

8. List of Figures

Figure 1: A microscope image of AG01522 after the cytokinesis-block micronucleus	
assay was performed, taken from a sample used in this experiment. The cells were	
stained with a fluorescent dye (DAPI), and the percentage of binucleated cells with	
micronuclei was counted. The arrows point to binucleated cells with micronuclei	10
Figure 2: Scheme of insert transferring and co-culture procedure used in experiment to	
investigate the effect of bystander cells on unirradiated cells	13
Figure 3: Scheme of insert transferring and co-culture procedure used in experiment to	
investigate the effect of bystander cells on other irradiated cells	14
Figure 4: Scheme of co-culture procedure used in experiment to investigate the effect of	
bystander cells on the initially irradiated cells.	15
Figure 5: Micronuclei induction in the irradiated population, the primary radiation-	
induced bystander population, and the unirradiated secondary bystander population.	
The doses indicated in the legend were delivered to the original irradiated cells. Data	
represent the means of three separate experiments, and errors bars represent the	
standard error. An asterisk indicates $p < 0.05$ while two indicates $p < 0.01$, compared to 0	
Gy samples in the same category	17
Figure 6: Frequency of micronuclei formation in populations irradiated with 0.5 Gy and	
then either not co-cultured or co-cultured with bystander cells induced by varying levels	
of radiation dose. Data represent the means of three separate experiments, and errors	
bars represent the standard error. An asterisk indicates p<0.05 while two indicates	
p<0.01	
Figure 7: Frequency of micronuclei formation in populations that are unirradiated,	
irradiated at 0.5 Gy, and irradiated at 2 Gy with and without bystanders. Data represent	
the means of three separate experiments, and errors bars represent the standard error.	
An asterisk indicates p<0.05 while two indicates p<0.01	19